

Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations

A REVIEW OF POTENTIAL AND LIMITATIONS OF DREDGED SEDIMENT APPLICATION IN AGRICULTURE



A review of potential and limitations of dredged sediment application in agriculture

Authors

Elias Fereres, Margarita García Vila, Angel Gonzalez-Gomez University of Córdoba

Maher Salman, Eva Pek, Camilla Simongini, Youssef Bizri and Nour El-Korek Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations

Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations Beirut, 2022 Required citation:

Fereres, E., García Vila, M. Gonzalez-Gomez, A., Salman, M., Pek, E., Simongini, C., Youssef Bizri, Y. and El-Korek, N. 2022. A review of potential and limitations of dredged sediment application in agriculture. Beirut, FAO. https://doi.org/10.4060/cc0095en

The designations employed and the presentation of material in this information product do not imply the expression of any opinion whatsoever on the part of the Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations (FAO) concerning the legal or development status of any country, territory, city or area or of its authorities, or concerning the delimitation of its frontiers or boundaries. The mention of specific companies or products of manufacturers, whether or not these have been patented, does not imply that these have been endorsed or recommended by FAO in preference to others of a similar nature that are not mentioned.

The views expressed in this information product are those of the author(s) and do not necessarily reflect the views or policies of FAO.

ISBN 978-92-5-136221-1 © FAO, 2022



Some rights reserved. This work is made available under the Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-ShareAlike 3.0 IGO licence (CC BY-NC-SA 3.0 IGO; https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-sa/3.0/igo/legalcode).

Under the terms of this licence, this work may be copied, redistributed and adapted for non-commercial purposes, provided that the work is appropriately cited. In any use of this work, there should be no suggestion that FAO endorses any specific organization, products or services. The use of the FAO logo is not permitted. If the work is adapted, then it must be licensed under the same or equivalent Creative Commons licence. If a translation of this work is created, it must include the following disclaimer along with the required citation: "This translation was not created by the Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations (FAO). FAO is not responsible for the content or accuracy of this translation. The original [Language] edition shall be the authoritative edition."

Disputes arising under the licence that cannot be settled amicably will be resolved by mediation and arbitration as described in Article 8 of the licence except as otherwise provided herein. The applicable mediation rules will be the mediation rules of the World Intellectual Property Organization http://www.wipo.int/amc/en/mediation/rules and any arbitration will be conducted in accordance with the Arbitration Rules of the United Nations Commission on International Trade Law (UNCITRAL).

Third-party materials. Users wishing to reuse material from this work that is attributed to a third party, such as tables, figures or images, are responsible for determining whether permission is needed for that reuse and for obtaining permission from the copyright holder. The risk of claims resulting from infringement of any third-party-owned component in the work rests solely with the user.

Sales, rights and licensing. FAO information products are available on the FAO website (www.fao.org/publications) and can be purchased through publications-sales@fao.org. Requests for commercial use should be submitted via: www.fao.org/contact-us/licence-request. Queries regarding rights and licensing should be submitted to: copyright@fao.org.

Cover photograph: ©FAO/Youssef Bizri

Contents

Acknowledgements	V
Abbreviations and acronyms	vii
Units	vii
Introduction	1

Sediment generation and management options	.5
Rationale for sediment management	6
Municipal solid waste and sludge treatment options	9
Alternative options of sediment use	. 12
Treatment process in the context of Lebanon	.16

The potential application and limitations of dredged

sediments in agriculture	
The global experiences of positive effects on crops and soil	
Identified risks and limitations	

Regulation framework for the use of sludge

in farming systems	29
International standards	
Regulatory framework in Lebanon	

Successful case studies using sediments as amendments	
in crop production	43
Composted sludge in granular fertilizers in China	
Application of lake-dredged sediments to pasture lands in Florida, USA	45
Conclusions	47

~1

Boxes

Box 1. Definitions	6
Box 2. Guidelines for wastewater reuse in Lebanon by FAO	18

Figures

Figure 1. A gate and irrigation canal in Akkar, north Lebanon	7
Figure 2. Discharge curve before and after sediment dredging in Akkar canal	8
Figure 3. Dredging and canal cleaning in Akkar, north Lebanon	9
Figure 4. Agricultural landscape in Akkar, north Lebanon	10
Figure 5. Common sludge treatments	11
Figure 6. Dredging and canal cleaning in Akkar, north Lebanon	12
Figure 7. Urban landscape around the irrigation canal in Akkar, north Lebanon	13
Figure 8. Proposed scheme for the reuse of dredged sediments	15
Figure 9. Canal outlet at the sea in Akkar, north Lebanon	17
Figure 10. Farmer's group in Akkar, north Lebanon	19
Figure 11. Crop field in Akkar, north Lebanon	23
Figure 12. Equipment in the water quality laboratory of Akkar, north Lebanon	25
Figure 13. Water quality laboratory at the North Lebanon Water Establishment	26
Figure 14. Five-step waste hierarchy of the European Union	31
Figure 15. Seaside in Akkar, north Lebanon	33
Figure 16. Contaminated environment in Akkar, north Lebanon	34
Figure 17. Agriculture landscape in Akkar, north Lebanon	37
Figure 18. Production process of sludge-based compound fertilizer	.44

Tables

Table 1. Synthesis of disposal methods for sludge, sediments and municipal solid waste	16
Table 2. Limits of trace element concentration in sludge	35
Table 3. Limits of pathogenic organism contents in sewage sludge	36
Table 4. Protocols for content analysis by the International Organization for Standardization	41

Acknowledgements

This publication "A review of potential and limitations of dredged sediment application in agriculture" is produced within the framework of the FAO "GCP/LEB/033/NOR" project "Rehabilitation and waste management of El-Bared Canal Irrigation System" funded by the Government of Norway.

The report was prepared by Elias Fereres, University of Cordoba, Spain; Margarita García Vila, University of Cordoba, Spain; and Angel Gonzalez-Gomez, University of Cordoba, Spain; and FAO team led by Maher Salman, Senior Land and Water Officer & Leader of the Irrigation and Water Resources Management Team, Land and Water Division (NSL); and including Eva Pek, Land and Water Officer (NSL), Camilla Simongini, Environmental Engineering Specialist (NSL), Youssef Bizri, Project Manager (FAO-Lebanon), and Nour El-Korek, Irrigation Water Management Specialist (FAO-Lebanon).

The team gratefully acknowledges guidance received from Lifeng Li, NSL Director and Sasha Koo-Oshima, NSL Deputy Director; and the continuous support by Etienne Careme, FAO Representative a.i., Lebanon, and Solange Matta Saadé, Assistant FAO Representative, Lebanon given to the project and its activities.

Finally, a special thanks to Rubén Martínez Rodríguez (NSL) for the design.

Abbreviations and acronyms

EC	European Commission	MSW	Municipal solid waste
EEC	European Economic Community	UNEP	United Nations Environment Programme
FAO	Food and Agriculture Organization of the United	UNHCR	United Nations High Commission for Refugees
	Nations	USEPA	United States Environmental
ISO	International Organization for Standardization		Protection Agency
		WWTPs	Sludge from wastewater
MPN	Most probable number		treatment plants

Units

°C	degree Celsius	m ³	cubic metre
cm	centimetre	mg/kg	milligram per kilogram
ha	hectare	mg/l	milligrams per litre
I	litre	ml	millilitre
l/s	litre per second	tonne/ha	tonne per hectare
m	metre	μm	micrometre



INTRODUCTION

The alarming trend of urbanization is stretching natural resources and leading to an environmental degradation in many regions. Nowhere are the impacts more evident than in water-scarce regions where the already limited resources are often managed unsustainably. The loss of ecosystem functions has cascading effects on the health of the environment, the restoration capacity and eventually affects its resilience. Urbanization and population density is a major threat for the Mediterranean region, where urban pressure increased by 75 percent between 1965 and 2015 (UNEP – Mediterranean Action Plan, 2020). The coastal area of Lebanon is no exception to the rapid environmental degradation, as the coastline hosts 70 percent of the Lebanese population (International Union for Conservation of Nature and Ministry of Environment, 2021). Furthermore, the southernmost and northernmost parts of the coast are occupied with high-potential agricultural areas (Ministry of Environment and UNDP, 2011).

The Governorate of Akkar, in the north of Lebanon clearly demonstrates the far-reaching consequences of urbanization-induced ecosystem degradation. There has been a recent sharp population increase due to migration that adds to the pre-existing vulnerabilities of the area (UNHCR, 2015). The challenges are compounded by a range of further risks, such as food and water insecurity, unsustainable intensification of agriculture and industry, changing consumption patterns, all under the threat of climate change. These challenges place a heavy strain on both fresh and marine water resources. One of the impacts of the multiple crises is the inability to handle waste by the existing public infrastructures. This has entailed the accumulation of solid urban waste in irrigation canals and has led to the pollution of water resources. The adverse effects of contamination are further exacerbated by the sediment deposited on the canal bottoms, which also carry a large amount of pollutants. Sediment that may be considered a valuable source of soil amendment, thus, becomes the vehicle of pollutant transport.

Despite the importance of irrigated agriculture in Akkar, the irrigation infrastructure is neither efficient nor resilient to withstand the growing pressures. A sterling example of the outdated practices of agricultural water resource management is the manual sediment removal. The proper disposal of dredged sediment is of critical importance, as it may be severely contaminated by pollutants, including heavy metals and pathogens. As irrigation canals pass through highly populated and industrial areas, management options must set out optimal strategies to make the best use of the sediment without posing threats for the environment and human habitats. The review report provides an insight into sediment collection and use strategies that can be transferred to El-Bared irrigation system. The report is the outcome of the project "Rehabilitation and waste management of the El-Bared Canal Irrigation System", financed by the Government of Norway. The report aims to provide technical guidelines in support of the development of sediment management strategies in the north of Lebanon. In the specific, it aims at providing an overview of global and national practices of sediment application; setting the theoretical baseline for the implementation of these practices; and paving the way for scalable pilots in the country. The report contributes to the higher objectives of the country's commitment to protect marine resources of the Mediterranean Sea, under the Barcelona Convention.

The available literature on sediment reuse from irrigation canals is scarce, yet some studies discussing sediment from lakes and urban water infrastructure can be found. Therefore, the review draws conclusions from such studies. Due to the similarity between sewage sludge and sediment contaminated by human activities, some sections use these terms interchangeably. The review also synthetizes a broad range of information sources which includes scientific papers, technical reports, and manuals. It is structured in five interrelated sections:

- sediment generation and management options;
- potential use and limitations of sludge and dredged sediments in agriculture;
- regulatory framework for the use of sludge and contaminated sediment;
- common protocols for the analysis of sludge characteristics; and
- global case studies demonstrating sediments reuse in crop production.

In the first section, a brief overview is presented to introduce the process of sediment generation, together with the traditional and more innovative ways of managing municipal solid waste (MSW) and sludge from wastewater treatment plants (WWTPs). The second section deals with the pros and cons of the application of sludge and sediments to the soil and crops. The third section summarizes the general international guidelines for the use of sludge and presents the current regulatory framework in Lebanon. The typical indicators for the quality assessment of sludge or MSW before its use as a soil amendment are presented in the fourth section, and complementary information on the measurement protocols is provided. The fifth section discusses successful case studies, involving the use of WWTPs sludge as a component in the manufacture of chemical fertilizer and the application of lake-dredged sediments to pasture lands. The report, then, summarizes the key messages to be considered in the case of El-Bared irrigation system, and outlines the next steps for the set-up of location-specific pilots.



SECTION 2

SEDIMENT GENERATION AND MANAGEMENT OPTIONS

Rationale for sediment management

The sediment in irrigation canals is generated mostly by upstream erosion, but high runoff, particle transport by wind, human and industrial pollution can also increase the rate of sedimentation. Depending on the dredging methods and the features of the surrounding environment, sediment is composed by a diverse set of particles with different physical-chemical properties, microbial communities, and pollutant types and loads (Renella, 2021).

Sediments are usually made of soil particles of different sizes and some organic matter. FAO (1996) suggests the use of sediment delivery ratio to define to what extent the eroded soil is stored within the basin. The sediment delivery ratio measures the proportion of sediment yield and gross erosion in the basin. Another equally important indicator, namely the sediment loss, is calculated from the parameters of rainfall energy factor, soil erodibility factor, slope-length factor, cropping management factor and erosion-control practice factor (FAO, 1996).

While the effect of the factors on the soil loss can be calculated through a simple formula, the data acquisition to estimate the value of the factors is complex and often requires long-term observations. If a less comprehensive and more piecemeal view of the sedimentation rate is required, different formulae exist to conduct a context-specific analysis. There are an ample number of calculation methods to model the sedimentation rates of flow even in data scarce environment. Another approach is the direct observation when the thickness and composition of the sediment deposit is observed over time.

Box 1. Definitions

The report uses the definitions of sediment and sewage sludge in tandem. Public irrigation schemes, particularly the peri-urban public schemes, are exposed to different sources of pollution such as MSW and domestic sewage discharge. Solid waste accumulation together with sediment deposit, by nature, may be compared to the sewage sludge generated in WWTPs. The issue of contamination must not be overlooked, as the level of contamination defines the further treatment requirement and applicability of the dredged sediment. Critical in understanding the potential of sediment use is the assessment on how MSW and sewage sludge can be treated. The report, therefore, provides a short insight into the processes of MSW and sewage sludge treatment and parallels them with sediment treatment options.

There is no magic formula that can be universally applied and, adding to the complexity, the diverse nature of water networks further restricts the applicability of approaches. Despite these challenges, the clear understanding of sediment features is the first crucial step to construct sediment management strategies, and the generated amount must be factored in the processes. The estimation of sediment load, however, is not sufficient to formulate such strategies. Sediment generation and deposition in urban and agricultural areas up the ante, as contaminated sediment has complex interactions with water resources, ecosystems, and human population.

FAO (1996) distinguishes two major dimensions of sediment-induced pollution: physical dimension, and chemical dimension:

- Physical dimension: topsoil loss and land degradation by gullying and sheet erosion, leading to both excessive levels of turbidity in receiving waters and off-site ecological and physical impacts from deposit.
- Chemical dimension: the silt and clay fraction (particle size <63 μ m) is a primary carrier of adsorbed chemicals, which are transported by sediment and may end in the aquatic system.

As per physical pollution, the effect of turbidity is ambiguous. On one hand, turbidity disrupts the penetration of sunlight into the water column, thus affecting the natural habitats of aquatic ecosystems. On the other hand, turbidity can be beneficial in some cases, if the nutrient-rich sediments are mixed with water. The increasing level of turbidity might be more relevant in the case of natural water bodies of aquatic ecosystems. The physical pollution of sediment in engineered infrastructures has other types of consequences that are generally considered detrimental. The accumulation of sediment has a direct implication on the performance of irrigation infrastructure (Samiyev *et al.*, 2020).



Figure 1. A gate and irrigation canal in Akkar, north Lebanon.

El-Bared irrigation system in Akkar is a glaring instance of reduced canal capacity due to the thick sediment deposits. The irrigation system has a high sedimentation rate due to the basin contributions to the deposits in El-Bared dam, the lack of sediment extractor around the canal intakes, the occasional but intense runoff from the surrounding hills, and the lack of sufficiently high canal banks in downstream areas to prevent overflowing. To visualize the direct impact, discharge rating curves are calibrated pre- and post-maintenance of the main irrigation canal and shown in Figure 2. The post-maintenance curve shows that sediment dredging from the irrigation canals considerably increases the velocity and water depth, thus resulting more than twice the water flow rate.





The regular sediment removal has further benefits, such as the reduced exposure of the pumps to erosion and of the pipes to clogging, the more efficient use of offtakes, and the more equitable water distribution between upstream and downstream farmers. Another non-negligible impact of the sediment removal is the elimination of the "breeding ground" for pollution. As sediment deposit can trap and settle down the MSW, the canal bottom may involuntarily become a major source of the transport of nonpoint pollution.

The chemical pollution of sediment is often unseen but more hazardous than the physical pollution. Chemical pollution is tied to both particle size and the amount of particulate organic carbon of the sediment. The chemically active fraction of sediment is usually the portion smaller than 63μ m, by which the heavy metals and other chemical parameters can be attracted. Also, toxic organic contaminants are associated with the organic carbon of the sediment, thus being bound, and easily transported or deposited. The chemical pollution of the sediment ultimately determines its applicability for different purposes, such as agriculture. This report, therefore, emphasizes on the chemical dimension of the sediment.

Source: author's own elaboration.



Figure 3. Dredging and canal cleaning in Akkar, north Lebanon

©FAO/Nader Elhajj

As contamination of sediment is obvious in El-Bared irrigation system due to the MSW disposal and the uncontrolled sewage discharge, the report takes the most pessimistic scenario and assumes that the accumulated sediment is sewage sludge. Such careful approach should be maintained until the evidence proves beyond a doubt that the sediment contamination does not exceed any pollutant thresholds or the standard quality parameters.

Municipal solid waste and sludge treatment options

A regrettable global trend, MSW, untreated wastewater and sludge have been directly released to the surface water bodies, including seas and oceans due to the lack of infrastructure, legal regulations or enforcing rules (Cieślik *et al.*, 2015; Singh and Agrawal, 2008). This leads to potential environmental, health and social risks. Regarding sewage sludge, the increasingly strict rules and higher standards concerning the quality of treated wastewater before its discharge to natural water bodies increases the produced sludge amount. The management of sewage sludge has become a major environmental and economic concern globally, and adding to its complexity, the economic aspect of sludge management is still in its infancy (Breda *et al.*, 2020; Fuerhacker and Haile, 2010; Fytili and Zabaniotou, 2008; Kelessidis and Stasinakis, 2012; Chen *et al.*, 2012). The conventional practices of disposing MSW and sewage sludge include landfilling, land reclamation, and application to agricultural soils.

Although these methods carry high risks to the human health and the environment if the waste is not properly treated, the contained nutrients can be recycled, and the process can be integrated into sustainable agricultural practices (Frišták *et al.*, 2018; Fytili and Zabaniotou, 2008; Kelessidis and Stasinakis, 2012; Mininni *et al.*, 2015; Zaker *et al.*, 2019; Debiase *et al.*, 2016; D. Romanos, 2020; Seleiman *et al.*, 2020; Kumar *et al.*, 2017). The objective of MSW and sludge



Figure 4. Agricultural landscape in Akkar, north Lebanon

management practices is to reduce the environmental impact and to enhance their recycling potential. Thus, the management of MSW, sewage sludge, as well as the contaminated sediment can be integrated into the circular economy to turn waste into resource.

What makes sewage sludge comparable to contaminated sediment, and what are the practiced treatment steps? According to FAO, the wastewater treatment methods entail a sequence of physical, chemical, and biological processes and operations to take out solids and organic matter from wastewater. The physical treatment starts with a filtering procedure to remove the coarse solids and other large materials. As first step, the flow velocity is reduced to separate and settle the organic and inorganic solids to sediment (FAO, 1992). The next step is the secondary treatment to remove the biodegradable particles and colloidal organic matter via aerobic treatment processes. Thus, aerobic microorganisms play a key role in wastewater treatment. Natural, low-rate systems require a considerable land extension to be implemented, but are considered very effective in removing pathogens (FAO, 1992). In cases where other specific pollutants (i.e. nitrogen or phosphorus) are present in the wastewater, a tertiary or advanced treatment is employed. An example of advanced treatment process is the use of chemicals for disinfection, frequently chlorine, ozone or ultraviolet radiation (FAO, 1992).

Based on the applied treatment process, sludge can be classified as primary, secondary or tertiary sludge. Primary sludge is made up of settled solids separated from the raw wastewater, while secondary sludge contains biological solids as well as additional settable solids. The separation of primary and secondary sludge before its treatment and disposal can optimize the two separate processes (Mininni *et al.*, 2004). The secondary sludge can be used as fertilizer in agriculture due to its high content of nitrogen and phosphorus and its negligible content of pathogens. On the other hand, the primary sludge can be anaerobically digested to produce biogas as sustainable energy source.

There are also successful case studies on co-composting MSW and sewage sludge and mixing dredged sediments with manure and compost to make the recycle process more integrated (Hamzawi *et al.*, 1998; Lu *et al.*, 2009; Oliveira *et al.*, 2017). Finally, microbes such as viruses, heavy metals, phosphorous or nitrogen might remain in the sludge produced in the tertiary treatments (European Commission, 2002). Fytili and Zabaniotou (2008) conducted a comprehensive review of nine treatment processes of sewage sludge, illustrated in Figure 5, which may be considered when management strategies are outlined (Fytili and Zabaniotou, 2008).

Figure 5. Common sludge treatments



Source: author's elaboration based on Cieślik et al., 2015 and Fytili and Zabaniotou, 2008.

Similar to the sludge, if severe contamination of the sediment is suspected, similar treatment procedures should be followed. It depends on the initial laboratory analysis that gives an indication on the levels of contaminants. A major difference between the sludge and the sediment is the location and efforts to collect and transport sediment from irrigation or water networks. While sludge is generated as a by-product of the water treatment and is internalized into the treatment process, sediment load in irrigation systems is dispersed and varies spatially and temporarily as per its dynamics. While this feature adds to the complexity of the quantification process, it can also undermine the financial recovery of the use process.



Figure 6. Dredging and canal cleaning in Akkar, north Lebanon

Nevertheless, when the cost-benefit ratio of sediment use is calculated, it is important to incorporate the externalities, such as the direct gains of unloaded sediment and the improved infrastructure performance. The moisture of the sediment has a paramount importance when selecting the treatment method. The moisture content of canal sediments may differ from that of sludge, depending on the flow conditions in the canal and the wetness of the sediment during dredging. The low moisture content of the sediment will reduce transportation costs while defines the applicability of the treatment methods. Once the dredging and transportation are settled, the process of sediment reuse corresponds to the treatment options of sludge management. More than that, if the sediment is less or not contaminated, the intricacies of process and costs of treatment decrease exponentially.

Alternative options of sediment use

Landfilling and land reclamation have been the most popular disposal methods of MSW, sludge and sediments due to their relatively low investment requirement. However, such disposal poses severe environmental and health risks and increases the operation cost due to the high transportation cost. As available land for landfilling is becoming scarce, and environmental standards are more increasingly stringent, these methods are more withdrawn lately (Chen *et al.*, 2012; Cieślik *et al.*, 2015; Soria-Verdugo *et al.*, 2017).

Furthermore, considering the target environment of the highly populated coastal Lebanon, this approach is neither feasible nor recommended. Incineration is widely used but given its considerable emission and discharge of heavy metals, the method cannot be considered in line with the sustainability objectives (Fytili and Zabaniotou, 2008).

Beyond landfilling or incineration, thermal processes like combustion, wet oxidation, gasification, and pyrolysis alternative methods are available to exploit the energy potential and prevent the already mentioned health and environmental risks (Aziz *et al.*, 2013; Kelessidis and Stasinakis, 2012; Rulkens, 2008; Sözen *et al.*, 2019; Zhang *et al.*, 2017). Sludge is considered to have a similar calorific value as brown coal, yet the main challenge is the high water content of wet sludge (Fytili and Zabaniotou, 2008). Pyrolysis is considered to be the most promising technique for energy production. Pyrolysis is a thermal treatment using anoxic atmosphere and high temperature. By-products generated in the reactions are biofuels, biogas and biochar. The amount and quality of these by-products, and hence the efficiency of the treatment, depend on the characteristics of the substrate (MSW, sediment or sludge), the heating rate and the temperature. Providing a fresh perspective, Frišták *et al.* (2018) investigated the potential use of sewage sludge pyrolysis to produce a safe source of phosphorus for agriculture. With many variables at stake, the research findings are in disarray, and a large number of further experiments are rolled out, mainly with sludge, to reduce the energy requirements and improve the quality of the products obtained after pyrolysis (Zaker *et al.*, 2019).



Figure 7. Urban landscape around the irrigation canal in Akkar, north Lebanon

©FAO/Youssef Bizn

According to the review of Zaker *et al.* (2019), the results reported in the ample number of publications are ambiguous, as they depend on the characteristics of the sludge, the type of reactors, and other case-specific features. Authors, therefore, suggest that further research about catalytic pyrolysis should be conducted, as these catalysts seem to improve the quality of biofuel and reduce the temperature needed for the pyrolysis process, thus increasing the energy efficiency.

Research gaps remain, including optimal feed ratio to the sewage sludge, the kinetics of the catalytic conversion, or the co-pyrolysis of sewage sludge with other carbon-based materials such as plastics. In line with the production of syngas from sludge, Kokalj *et al.* (2017) described two possible gasification processes of wet sludge, including the syngas similar to water gas to be used by natural gas engines or syngas similar to wood gas. Dentel *et al.* (2004) reported on the direct generation of electricity from sewage sludge in laboratory conditions by using graphite electrodes in the same way as energy is harvested from marine sediments. Jiang *et al.* (2009) also demonstrated that electricity can be generated directly from sludge by means of a microbial fuel cell.

Zhang *et al.* (2012) conducted further research to obtain more electrical power from sludge by using a biocathode into a three-chamber microbial cell. The methods of using sludge for energy source are evolving rapidly. Undoubtably, such methods pave the way for improved, circular economy that minimizes the waste and the risks associated with treatment methods. However, there are several limitations that hamper their application, among other, the return on investment, the required economies of scale, the available infrastructure, the treatment of by-products, and the input efficiency.

Overly sophisticated technologies are not appealing when the enabling environment is not favourable, and the surrounding conditions are fragile. Furthermore, all these technologies must be scaled up to economically viable options beyond their scientific interest. In support of the efforts to make production cycles more integrated, the application of sediment as a nutrient source is increasingly in the forefront. Highlighting the fact that each method has its advantages and disadvantages, Hospido *et al.* (2005) suggested that the application of digested sludge to agricultural land is a promising alternative, even compared to the thermal processes.

Several country and regional experiences prove the feasibility of sludge use for agricultural purposes. For example, following a long traditional practice, Chen *et al.* (2012) concluded that the application to lands after anaerobic digestion and composting can be the most suitable disposal method in China. Sludge treatment and composting for agricultural purposes are already considered as the primary disposal method in many European countries, such as Ireland (Collivignarelli *et al.*, 2015; Mininni *et al.*, 2015). Ingallinella *et al.* (2002) proposed a treatment method of faecal sludge coming from high-density urban areas through a semi-centralized system, where sludge is dewatered and made available for disposal in agricultural areas.

Sediment use from peri-urban irrigation schemes should be viewed in parallel with the sewage reuse processes. Lord (2017) proposed a decision-support tree for the classification of sediment use in the context of circular economy (Figure 8).



Figure 8. Proposed scheme for the reuse of dredged sediments

Source: reproduced from Lord, 2017.

Other works address the use of sludge as a component for construction materials, as an ingredient of cement or mortar (Ahmad *et al.*, 2016; Ahmad *et al.*, 2017; Alqam *et al.*, 2011; Fytili and Zabaniotou, 2008) or vitrification (Cieślik *et al.*, 2015).

Sediments are also recommended to be used to manufacture bricks, ceramics and concrete (Sigua, 2009). Finally, dredged materials are often used for the restoration of beaches and littorals (Sigua, 2009). While the process generates only indirect economic benefits, its environmental contribution is significant. Table 1 shows a synthesis of disposal methods for sludge, sediments and MSW.

Method	Advantages	Limitations	Reference(s)
Land filling Land reclamation	No investments	 High environmental and health risks Transportation costs Increasing land scarcity for this purpose 	Cao <i>et al.</i> , (2011) Kelessidis and Stasinakis (2012)
Agricultural use Soil amendment	 Reuse of nutrients Reduction of chemical fertilizer use Positive effects on soil 	 Environmental and health risks Social acceptance 	Breda <i>et al.</i> (2020) Hospido <i>et al.</i> (2005) Hossain <i>et al.</i> (2017) Maryland Department of Environment (2017)
Incineration Combustion	Energy production	 Discharge of combustion gases 	Barber (2009)
Pyrolysis	 Bio-oil, biogas and bio-char production No combustion gases 	Investment costsOperation costs	Sözen <i>et al.</i> (2019) Zaker <i>et al.</i> (2019)
Construction	Cost reduction	Possible environmental risks	Ahmad <i>et al.</i> , (2017) Cieślik <i>et al</i> . (2015) Sigua (2009)
Beach and littorals nourishment	 Positive environmental impact 	Limited space	Sigua (2009) Maryland Department of Environment (2017)

Table 1. Synthesis of	disposal methods for	or sludge, sediments a	nd municipal solid waste
5		J ,	

Treatment process in the context of Lebanon

The public services reach the limit of their capacity in Lebanon, and the on-going, multifaceted crises further disrupt the delivery services. This is particularly acute in sectors that fail to recover their costs. Waste management and sewage treatment are amongst the most affected services, and the mounting issue of uncollected trash and the raw sewage discharge into natural water bodies have far-reaching consequences (Romboli *et al.*, 2018). Less than 60 percent of the households are connected to wastewater utilities, and the large regional disparities have persistent effects on the living standards. Most of the wastewater is discharged into surface water and the Mediterranean without any treatment (UN-ESCWA, 2017).



Figure 9. Canal outlet at the sea in Akkar, north Lebanon

©FAO/Eva Pek

The MSW sector shows a similar picture, and the compounded crises further exacerbated the difficult situation by the sudden tightening of financial resources. The emergency measures taken by Government to solve the problem of the MSW accumulation led to the overloading of old landfills and the opening of new sites. However, this solution is neither supported nor sustainable, and there is an urgent need for long-term strategies (Salloum, 2020; Romboli *et al.*, 2018). According to the Country Environmental Analysis published by the World Bank in 2011, the production of dry sludge in Lebanon could reach 306 tonnes/day a decade ago.

Currently, this potential is far from being exploited, as the sludge is mostly disposed in sanitary landfills. Nonetheless, there is an increasing interest in employing treated or digested sludge as fertilizer or as soil amendment and conditioner, trying to add value to this potential resource. Incineration is also being considered as a suitable sludge treatment process due to its ability to reduce its weight by tenfold and to eliminate bacteria, pathogens and viruses (World Bank, 2011).

Box 2. Guidelines for wastewater reuse in Lebanon by FAO

FAO introduced a pilot programme to assist the Government of Lebanon in the development of national guidelines for wastewater reuse (FAO, 2011). While improving the practices of wastewater reuse was the main objective of the pilot, the assessment touched upon the use of sludge. Sludge can be considered as an important by-product of water reuse practices, therefore, the overview of the recommended treatment methods can highlight the entry-points, where the potential of treatment cycle can be further developed. The proposed treatment options were defined along a crop classification.

The guideline concluded that water reuse is a significant source of water for agriculture, but the potential is underexploited. More concerted efforts are required to better utilize the water resources, including the sludge.

Parameter	Class I	Class II	Class III
Restrictions	Produce eaten or cooked; irrigation of greens with public access	Fruit trees, irrigation of greens and with limited public access; impoundments with no public water contact	Cereals, oil plants, fibre and seed crops, canned crops, industrial crops, fruit trees (no sprinkler irrigation), nurseries, greens and wooden areas without public access
Proposed treatment	Secondary, filtration and disinfection	Secondary, storage or maturation ponds or infiltration percolation	Secondary and storage/oxidation ponds
Biological Oxygen Demand (mg/l)	25	100	100
Chemical Oxygen Demand (mg/l)	125	250	250
Total Suspended Solids (mg/l)	60 (200 WSP)	200	200
рН	6-9	6-9	6-9
Residual chlorine (mg/l)	0.5-2	0.5	0.5
Nitrate-nitrogen (mg/l)	30	30	30
Faecal coliforms (in 100 ml)	<200	<1 000	None required
Helminth eggs (in 1 l)	<]	<]	<]



Figure 10. Farmer's group in Akkar, north Lebanon

In Lebanon, the transportation of sludge is a limiting factor that ultimately determines its wide-spread use. In inland WWTPs, where agricultural lands are nearby, sludge should be treated for agricultural use as land conditioner or fertilizer. Karam *et al.* (2013) suggested that stabilized sludge should be given to the farmers as an incentive to promote its use (Karam *et al.* 2013). Incineration is only recommended in special cases, such as hospital and industrial liquid wastes (World Bank, 2011).

However, large-size WWTPs located in coastal areas, by default, are the main sludge producers. As the coastline hosts only two agriculturally significant areas in the southernmost and northernmost parts of the country, a technical alternative for sludge management in the coastal area can be its anaerobic digestion. In turn, the produced power can be used to sustain the WWTP energy requirements (World Bank, 2011). Only a few experiments are available on the re-use of sludge and sediment, which are discussed in the coming sections.



THE POTENTIAL APPLICATION AND LIMITATIONS OF DREDGED SEDIMENTS IN AGRICULTURE

Sludge and sediment application, either row or treated, to improve soil fertility is a common practice worldwide. However, the rule of "no-one-size-fits-all" applies even here, and advantages and disadvantages must be taken into account (Hospido *et al.*, 2005). Building on the assumption of similarity between contaminated sediment in irrigation canals and sludge, this section builds around the assessment of potential and limitation of the sediment use in agriculture.

On one hand, sewage sludge can potentially improve soil characteristics and supply nutrients such as nitrogen and phosphorus and micronutrients. On the other hand, it may also contain excessive concentrations of contaminants such as heavy metals (like copper, cadmium, zinc, nickel, lead, mercury, etc.), organic pollutants and pathogenic microorganisms. Additional constrains on the safe use of sludge and dredged sediments are created by the seasonal variability in composition and characteristics (Singh *et al.*, 2011; Singh and Agrawal, 2008). The cumulative effect of application on lands also depends on the frequency and duration of the application.

The global experiences of positive effects on crops and soil

Several experiments show positive effects of sludge application on crop production. For example, Epstein *et al.* (1976) measured the effect of different rates of anaerobically digested sludge (from 0 to 240 tonnes/ha) and dry sludge compost, using two pH levels, on maize. The conclusions suggest that both sludge and compost increased the water content and water retention capacity of a silt loam soil.

Wang (1997) reported the benefits of sewage sludge in comparison to the use of chemical fertilizers or manure, as it increased soil organic matter, phosphorus and nitrogen content. Significant yield increases were also reported in the cases of tomato (11 percent), wheat (54.1 percent) and Chinese cabbage (120 percent). According to the author, the combination of composted sludge and chemical fertilizers proved promising. Reporting on another successful case, fertilization with digested sludge over four years resulted in an increase of cotton yield in Greece (Samaras *et al.*, 2008). The application of raw, lime-stabilized or composted sludge enhanced biomass production of rapeseed, wheat and maize (Du *et al.*, 2012). Özyazici (2013) also concluded the positive effect of digested sludge on crop production in a wheat-cabbage-tomato rotation. The recommended rate based on the study experiment was high though, amounting 20 tonnes/ha of dry digested sludge.

Biomass and yield increase, as well as better grain quality, were reported in wheat field in Egypt, where lands were fertilized with sludge in a two-season experiment. The increase was achieved even though a low rate of 10 tonnes/ha was applied during the experiment. The pre- and post-assessment showed no critical level of heavy metals neither in the sludge nor in the grains and roots (Mansour *et al.*, 2013; Mazen *et al.*, 2010).

Singh and Agrawal (2008) compiled the results and conclusions of numerous studies in their review titled "Potential benefits and risks of land application of sewage sludge". They highlighted the importance of the interaction of soil-sludge characteristics, including the bioavailability of toxic compounds. For example, the pH of the sludge-soil mix has a key role in the applicability. In conclusion, sludge applications to crop fields proved to increase soil aggregate stability, water-holding capacity, porosity, and humus content while reducing its bulk density and erodibility. Entailing equivocal findings, sludge can either increase or decrease soil pH, depending on the acidity or alkalinity. After a 16-year experiment in a calcareous soil in Spain, Roig *et al.* (2012) observed that soil properties improve with sludge application rate up to 40 tonnes/ha, without increasing soil salinity (Roig *et al.*, 2012). However, ion toxicity in onion occurred due to cadmium accumulation.



Figure 11. Crop field in Akkar, north Lebanon

Darmody and Ruiz-Diaz (2017) observed significant positive effects of dredged sediments on maize yield in a sandy soil, as well as improved soil texture and fertility (Darmody and Ruiz-Diaz 2017). The positive effects of sediments (from rivers and lakes) on soil properties have been also investigated globally (Darmody and Ruiz-Diaz, 2017; Lord, 2017; Sigua, 2009; Sigua *et al.*, 2004). The application of lake-dredged sediments to pasture lands in Florida (United States of America) was documented by Sigua (2009).

Global experiences include studies on eliminating the risk of pathogens in sludge to ensure safe application (Usman *et al.*, 2012). These studies show that reused and treated sludge and sediment have multiple advantages, such as the economic disposal, the reduction of chemical fertilizers, and the improvement of soil properties. According to the global review of Usman *et al.* (2012), heavy metal levels in most of the sludge samples in the European Union, India and Pakistan were under the critical levels when assessed against the nationally defined standards of US, Japan and Germany. Smith (2009) found that metals are usually bound to the organic matrix of the compost of MSW or sludge, which reduces the bioavailability for crops.

Similar studies were conducted also in Lebanon to understand the feasibility of sludge application, based on the FAO guidelines (FAO, 2010). An experiment in wheat fields in the Bekaa Valley showed that sludge application improved soil characteristics and increased wheat grain protein and fibre, while heavy metal contents in both soil and crops remained below the thresholds. However, the impacts must be monitored over a longer period to conclude far-reaching recommendations (Romanos, 2020; Romanos, 2021).

Identified risks and limitations

The potential side effect of sludge application on soil salinity and increased chloride levels must be carefully accounted (Du *et al.*, 2012; Epstein *et al.*, 1976; Samaras *et al.*, 2008). Concerning the sanitary risks, Pescod (1992) alerted about the hazardous components of sewage sludge and its environmental risks. Gaspard *et al.* (1995) emphasized the elevated risk of urban sludge application to land due to the high resistance of nematode eggs to treatment processes. Similar risk factors are also highlighted regarding the management of faecal sludge in urban areas of emerging countries (Ingallinella *et al.*, 2002). To lower the risk of raw sludge use in China, studies highlight the importance of affordable technologies such as composting for stabilization and preparation (Wang, 1997). Epstein *et al.* (1976) reported that both positive and negative effects of heavy metal are lower when the sludge is composted.

Sludge stabilization treatment determined the solubility of heavy metals, as the concentrations of chromium, mercury and nickel were here in anaerobically stabilized sludge than in aerobically and non-biologically treated sludge in Croatia (Černe *et al.*, 2019). Nevertheless, eight out of nine sludge samples were considered applicable without notable risks in the short term. Another potential risk is that compounds like grease, heavy metals, phenolics and polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons can adversely affect soil microbiota, reducing soil fertility (Cieślik *et al.*, 2015). Consequently, a physicochemical analysis of sewage sludge is recommended as a prerequisite before application.

Kidd *et al.* (2007) suggested that the risk of leaching of phosphorus and some metals like copper and zinc after repeated land application of digested sludge is greater than risk of heavy metals entering the harvestable product. Even though the heavy metal content of the soil increased, heavy metals were not taken by the crops. Evaluating the effects on native grasses in China, Wang *et al.* (2008) conducted an experiment consisting of six rates of sludge land application from 15 to 120 tonnes of dry sludge per hectare.



Figure 12. Equipment in the water quality laboratory of Akkar, north Lebanon

©FAO/Jihad Saade

Although they confirmed the benefits of sludge on soil characteristics, sludge application was recommended rather to forests and grasslands, as cadmium concentration exceeded the acceptable threshold after 16 months application. The uptake of some heavy metals by plants and their presence in their edible parts is a severe constraint. Some of the evaluated cases highlighted the accumulation of cadmium by lettuce and spinach, the accumulation of lead by kale and copper, zinc and nickel by sugar beet (Singh and Agrawal, 2008). Therefore, the use of sludge and contaminated sediment should be evaluated per crop classification, with special emphasis on leafy vegetables and fresh produces.

Sludge application in agriculture can also change the microbial and enzymatic activity of soils due to the higher availability of toxic compounds. Also, the presence of pathogenic bacteria is certainly amongst the greatest concerns. Studies investigating the raw sludge use suggested further experiments to understand the interactions in different soil types and the effects on the microbiology, surface and groundwater, eventually on the human health (Singh and Agrawal, 2008).





©FAO/Jihad Saade

Evaluating the potential toxicity, Bright and Healey (2003) measured the content of various organic contaminants in 36 samples of fresh sludge from five large WWTPs in Canada, as prior legal limitations focused on heavy metals. They concluded that the regulations seem sufficient for preventing the environmental damage from organic contaminants when sludge is applied to uncontaminated soil. The analysed organic compounds comprised dioxins and furans, phthalate esters, or volatile organics.

However, the same did not apply to petroleum hydrocarbon constituents or their microbial metabolites, which would require special attention, together with other organics if sludge application is repeated. Healey and Fenton (2017) found microplastics in several sludge samples from Irish WWTPs, which can accumulate in the soil and finally enter the food chain. Moreover, pharmaceuticals and other drugs are currently seen as a new threat for the application of sludge to soil (Díaz-Cruz *et al.*, 2009; Fijalkowski *et al.*, 2017; Ivanová *et al.*, 2018). Müller *et al.* (2000) reported the notable occurrence of herbicides and pesticides in sediments from irrigation canals in sugarcane and cotton areas in Queensland, Australia (Müller *et al.*, 2000).

In Lebanon, Romanos *et al.* (2019) evaluated the levels of heavy metals, pathogenic microorganisms and phytotoxicity of sludge coming from three different WWTPs in the Bekaa Valley (Romanos *et al.*, 2019). From the three WWTPs, two relied on solar thermal treatment combined with liming to stabilize the sludge, while the third used a special digester. Only one case proved the presence of heavy metals, having the zinc concentration higher than the acceptable national standard. What makes sludge use concerning in Lebanon is the parasitological risks due to the presence of *Escherichia coli, Staphylococcus aureus* and Acinetobacter. Therefore, composting, or other treatment method is a prerequisite to recommend sludge for agricultural use.




SECTION 4

REGULATION FRAMEWORK FOR THE USE OF SLUDGE IN FARMING SYSTEMS

International standards

The compliance with environmental regulations that advise on the safe disposal of sediments and biosolids are necessary to mitigate the risks. As the global interest in improving the integrated cycle of natural resource management is growing, an increasing number of countries embark on the development of sediment quality guidelines. Although the first-generation guidelines focus mostly on heavy metals, the recent publications also involve the risk assessment of biological contamination.

The major shortcomings of the existing guidelines are the compound-specific approach and the lack of the integration of the ecosystem (Burton, 2002). However, some comprehensive guidelines exist, which can provide a baseline for further evaluations, for example the Regulatory Applications Of Sediment Criteria by the United States Environmental Protection Agency (USEPA) in 1987 and the Dredge Material Management Program in Maryland, Australia (USEPA, 1988; Maryland Department of Environment, 2017).

According to the European Union Waste Framework Directive, sediments from canals should be considered as waste and must be treated according to country-specific waste regulations (European Commission, 2008). The European Union Directive is based on a "waste hierarchy" (Figure 14) and establishes that waste needs to be managed:

- without endangering human health and harming the environment;
- without risk to water, air, soil, plants or animals;
- without causing a nuisance through noise or odours;
- without adversely affecting the countryside or places of special interest.

However, Renella (2021) reported that recycled sediments are not widely used in European Union agriculture due to a lack of clear regulations (Renella, 2021). The origin, nature and potential disposal options of sewage sludge are ruled by many direct and indirect regulations. If sewage sludge is marketed as organic amendment, the compost produced from sewage sludge is subject to fertilizers regulations (Soler-Rovira *et al.*, 1996). In Japan, when employed in agricultural use, sludge compost must fulfil the "Fertilizer Control Law" that includes restrictions on pollutants (Leschber, 2002).

Figure 14. Five-step waste hierarchy of the European Union



Source: reproduced from EC, 2008.

In the European Union, sewage sludge is mentioned in several Directives such as the one on water (2000/60/EC), urban wastewater treatment (91/271/EEC), landfill (99/31/EC), incineration (2000/76/EC), and other relevant sectors (Inglezakis *et al.*, 2011; Spinosa, 2001). The single legislative act proposed at the European level is the Council Directive 86/278/EEC of 12 June 1986, which came in force to address the use of sewage sludge in agriculture (Soler-Rovira *et al.*, 1996). It defines that any sludge shall be treated before being used in agriculture and exclusively under certain conditions. Untreated sludge can be accepted if it is injected or worked into the soil (EEC, 1986). However, member States of the European Union must implement monitoring systems to ensure up-to-date records of the quantities of the produced sludge, the type of treatment carried out, the names and addresses of the recipients of the sludge, and the place where the sludge is to be used.

Likewise, the countries shall follow the reference methods for sampling and analysis of sewage sludge and farms soil described in Appendix II C of the Directive 86/278/EEC of 12 June 1986 (Soler-Rovira *et al.*, 1996). The European Union Directive sets the limits of heavy metals (cadmium, copper, mercury, nickel, lead and zinc) in the sludge, the soil where applied, and the maximum annual loads of heavy metals to be put into the soil. If the pH of the soil is consistently lower than 6, these limits should be reduced as the mobility of heavy metals intensifies (Soler-Rovira *et al.*, 1996).

Inglezakis *et al.* (2011) reported that those limits, based on precautionary calculations, are higher than those in the United States of America, but lower than the limits that many European countries impose nationally, for example Denmark, Finland, Sweden, Netherlands, Austria, Belgium, France and Germany (Inglezakis *et al.* 2011, Leschber, 2002). Several European Union Member States established stricter regulations, including limits on the concentration of additional heavy metals (chromium, arsenic, molybdenum, cobalt and selenium), synthetic organic compounds and pathogens (Mininni *et al.*, 2015). The Working Document on Sludge of the European Commission (EC, 2000) defines the limits on heavy metals of the Directive and proposed limit values for organic micropollutants (polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons, alkyl benzene sulfonates, di(2-ethylhexyl)phthalate, nonylphenol ethoxylates, adsorbable organic halogens, polychlorinated biphenyls and polychlorinated dibenzo-p-dioxins and furans) and pathogens:

- Some European countries adopted limits on absorbable organic halogen, polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons, and polychlorinated biphenyls, while in the United States of America thresholds for coplanar polychlorinated biphenyls and polychlorinated dibenzo-p-dioxins and furans are imposed (Collivignarelli *et al.*, 2019, Leschber, 2002).
- According to the Working Document, sewage sludge must be tested for *Salmonella* and *Escherichia coli* (EC, 2000). References to other indicators (Enterococci, thermotolerant coliform bacteria, Clostridium perfringens, and helminth eggs) are also included in the national legislation of 11 Member States (Collivignarelli *et al.*, 2019).

The strict regulations for the compositions are gradually relaxed along the treatment process. In South Africa, for example, limits vary according to the four classes systems: sludge and faecal matter (class A), sludge after mesophilic anaerobic digestion (B), and sludge after hygienization like composting, lime treatment and radiation (C and D). The Working Document on Sludge lays down the conditions that allow the application of sewage sludge to animal feed crops, horticultural and fruit crops without withholding periods – only those streams that undergo advanced treatments or "hygienization", as opposed to conventional treatments (listed in Annex I of the Working Document, EC, 2000).

Attention should be paid to the nutrient balances in soils. In the United States of America, nutrients are carefully assessed in sensitive watersheds. Also in Australia, the maximum permissible load of applied dry matter is reduced when nutrients are sufficiently available (Leschber, 2002). In the frame of a Multilateral Environmental Agreement, the Mediterranean countries forbid direct dumping of sludge and sewage water into the Mediterranean Sea, as part of the Mediterranean Action Plan, proposed in the Barcelona Convention in 1976 (UNEP, 1977).

Figure 15. Seaside in Akkar, north Lebanon



Regulatory framework in Lebanon

Environmental issues in Lebanon are under the authority of the Ministry of Environment, which implements its policies via the Council for Development and Reconstruction. The government of Lebanon launched a program on environmental regulations in the 1990s, based on which the Ministry of Environment elaborated the State of the Environment Report and a Strategy Framework in 1996.

The second State of the Environment Report came into force in 2002 and was updated in 2011, together with a draft National Environmental Action Plan in 2006. The latter contains the seven objectives defining the environmental strategy of the Ministry. In addition, Lebanon recently developed several sectoral strategies, programs, and action plans which can be associated with the management of sludge, in line with its global commitments:

- National Biodiversity Strategy and Action Plan (1998);
- Work Plan for the Treatment of Hazardous Wastes in Lebanon (2001-2002);
- National Implementation Plan for the management of Persistent Organic Pollutants (2003-2005);
- National Action Plan for Protected Areas (2004-2005);
- National Plan for Quarries Rehabilitation (2005-2008);
- Law no. 690/2005 and Environmental Law no. 444/2002, setting the legal basis for Decree 8633 on Environmental Impact Assessment (2012).



Figure 16. Contaminated environment in Akkar, north Lebanon

According to the FAOLEX, the Decree 8633 consisting of 17 articles divided into three Chapters aims at being a tool for predicting and mitigating adverse impacts in projects, describing the various measures that need to be considered in the preliminary environmental evaluation of any project. The Decree sets a protocol from screening, scoping, preparation of the environmental assessment, and supervision of the environmental assessment process including consultation and disclosure, up to the rules of monitoring plans (FAOLEX, 2012).

Contaminated sediment of irrigation canals has similar advantages and disadvantages to the sludge application; therefore, it falls under the same regulatory framework. To enhance the regulatory background, the collaboration of FAO and the Ministry of Environment yielded into constructive conclusions that can be taken forward to operationalize the integrated use of sediment. Based on the collaboration, FAO defines full nutrients recovery, application as cheap fertilizer and low disposal cost as benefits, while the presence of pathogens, heavy metals and organic pollutants as potential threats.

Regarding the trace elements, four classes for sludge and sediment use are defined in Lebanon: class A – unrestricted use, class B and C – restricted use, and class D – not suitable for use. In Table 2, the limits of trace element concentration in sludge are shown. When compared to the international guidelines, the agreed ranges of trace elements as per the country regulations are below the European Union levels, but similar to other countries in the region.

Area	Cadmium	Chromium	Copper	Mercury	Nickel	Lead	Zinc
European Union	20-40	1 000-1 750	1000-1750	15-25	300-400	750-1 200	2 500-4 000
France	20-40	1000-2000	1 000- 2 000	10-20	200-400	800-1 600	3000-6000
Germany	5-10	900	800	8	200	900	200-2 500
Belgium (Wallon)	10-20	500	600-1000	10-16	100-300	500-750	200-2 500
Belgium (Flemish)	12	500	750	10	100	600	2 500
Denmark	0.8-200	100	1000	0.8-200	30-2 500	60-120	4 000
Spain (soil pH <7)	20	1000	1000	16	300	750	2 500
Spain (soil pH >7)	40	1 500	1750	25	400	1200	4 000
Greece	20-40	-	1000-1750	16-25	300-400	750-1 200	2500-4000
Ireland	20	-	1000	16	300	750	2 500
Italy	20	_	1000	10	300	750	2 500
Luxembourg	20-40	1 000-1 750	1000-1750	16-25	300-400	750-1 200	2 500-4 000
The Netherlands	1.25	75	75	0.75	30	100	300
Switzerland	5	500	600	5	80	500	2 000
Syrian Arab Republic (Class A-E)	3-32	100-600	100-1 500	1-19	60-300	150-400	200-2 800
Lebanon (Class A)	5	250	375	4	125	150	700
Lebanon (Class B)	20	500	1500	15	270	300	2 500
Lebanon (Class C)	32	600	1500	19	300	400	2 800

Table 2. Limits of trace element concentration in sludge

* All values are expressed in mg/kg.

Source: FAO, 2010, elaborated from International Guidelines.

The classification of sludge, thus contaminated sediment use also defines the target location:

- Class A unrestricted use: Public activities site, parks and green areas, agriculture (fresh vegetables excluded), forest, reclamation land, landfills, surface soils within the premises of treatment plants;
- Class B restricted use: Agriculture (fresh vegetables excluded), forest, reclamation land, landfills, surface soils within the premises of the treatment plants;
- Class C restricted use: Forest, reclamation land, landfills, surface soils within the premises of treatment plants;
- Class D not suitable for use: Landfills and surface soils within the premises of treatment plants.

The recommendations on sludge application also extend to the pathogenic organism contents. The ranges of acceptable organism content are more homogenous across the regions than the ranges set for traceable elements (Table 3).

Area	Faecal coliforms	Salmonella	Helminth eggs	
United States of	<1 000	<3 MPN/4 g of dry	<1 viable/4 g of dry	
America – Class A	MPN/g dry solids	solids	solids	
United States of America – Class B	<2 · 10 ⁶ MPN/g dry solids	-	-	
Tunisia	<2 · 10 ⁶ MPN/g dry solids	-	-	
Syrian Arab Republic	<1 000	<3 MPN/4 g of dry	<1/100 ml at 5% dry	
	MPN/g dry solids	solids	solids	
Jordan	<1 000	<3 MPN/4 g of dry	<1 viable /5 g of dry	
	MPN/g dry solids	solids	solids	
Lebanon <1 000		<3 MPN/4 g of dry	<1 viable /5 g of dry	
MPN/g dry solids		solids	solids	

		C					
Table 3	Limits	nt nathod	enic ora:	nism	contents II	<u>1 Sew/ade</u>	SINUARE
Tubic 5.		Ji putriog	crine orge		CONTRENTED IN	1 JC Wuge	Judge

Source: FAO, 2010, elaborated from International Guidelines.

For agricultural purposes, the monitoring of the following parameters is recommended: pH of the water, dry matter, organic matters, total nitrogen, ammonium, phosphorus pentoxide, potassium oxide and maximum oxide. The recommended frequency of sludge analysis ranges from 1 to 12 times per year, depending on the theoretical capacity of the WWTP. In terms of produced quantity, the sediment deposit in El-Bared irrigation system does not exceed the capacity of a WWTP below 5 000 population equivalent, thus making the yearly analysis sufficient. The analysis frequency also depends on the dredging schedule, whether it is regular or occasional.

According to FAO (2011), sludge or contaminated sediment use for agricultural purposes in Lebanon must overcome several limitations:

- Biosolid products should not be used for fresh produces, and even for other crops, at least 8 months period should be observed before its application.
- Pasturing should not be practiced within two months after biosolid application.
- Biosolids disposal should be in reasonable distance from water sources, including drains and irrigation systems. The buffer zone between surface water and disposal areas should exceed 750 m and should not cover areas where the depth of wells is less than 150 m.
- The disposal zone should not be steep, and the maximum allowed slope should be less than 5 percent.
- After disposal, 30 days period should be observed before access by people without sufficient protecting clothes and measures.



Figure 17. Agriculture landscape in Akkar, north Lebanon

It is important to note that the abovementioned protocol by FAO has been introduced as indicative guidelines in Lebanon; however, it has not been officially adopted and released by the Ministry of Environment. Further experiment is required to set up stringent safeguards for risk mitigation.





COMMON PROTOCOLS FOR ANALYSIS OF SLUDGE OR MUNICIPAL SOLID WASTE CHARACTERISTICS

As already discussed, sludge should be analysed before deciding about its final disposal to prevent any risks and make profitable use of it. Therefore, the most common protocols for the analysis of sludge characteristics are compiled in this section.

A detailed characterization of sludge should contain the following information:

- Soil fertility related information:
 - content of macronutrients and micronutrients for crops (namely natrium, phosphorus, potassium, iron, magnesium, etc.);
 - organic matter content, pH, electrical conductivity.
- Toxicity risk related information:
 - content of heavy metals and other inorganic trace elements which could pose any danger;
 - content of organic contaminants (pharmaceuticals, drugs, personal care products, etc.);
 - presence of pathogens (*Salmonella* spp., *E. coli*, *Staphylococcus aureus*, helminth eggs and viruses).

Regarding the first group, it should be noted that the same type of analysis can be conducted on any soil sample, making the use of standard protocols universally applicable. Heavy metal contamination should be measured by spectrometric techniques.

Concerning the characterization of pathogens, metaproteomics could be an alternative tool to get a more in-depth understanding of the microbiological processes in the sludge (Kuhn *et al.*, 2011). Phylogenetic ribonucleic acid analysis is also used to identify the bacteria in the sludge (Snaidr *et al.*, 1997). The International Organization for Standardization (ISO) provides reference to these protocols (Table 4).

Cieślik *et al.* (2015) presented an exhaustive review of the analytical methods that are applicable to each type of sludge according to its treatment and further employment. In view of the array of contaminants that could be contained in a sludge sample, Moreira *et al.* (2008) proposed bioassays as a holistic way to measure toxicity.

Sludge characteristics	Common protocols
Content of phosphorus	Depending on sludge sample pH: • Olsen-Phosphorus (Olsen, 1954)
	 ISO 11263:1994 - Soil quality, determination of phosphorus spectrometric determination of phosphorus soluble in sodium hydrogen carbonate solution (ISO, 1994)
	Others (Southern Cooperative Series, 2000)
Content of nitrogen	ISO 11261:1995 - Soil quality, determination of total nitrogen - Modified Kjeldahl method (ISO, 1995)
Content of organic carbon	ISO 14235:1998 - Soil quality, determination of organic carbon by sulfochromic oxidation (ISO, 1998)
рН	ISO 10523:2008 - Water quality, determination of pH (ISO, 2008)
Electrical conductivity	ISO 7888:1985 - Water quality, determination of electrical conductivity (ISO, 1985)
Content of heavy metals	ISO 12914:2012 - Soil quality, microwave-assisted extraction of the aqua regia soluble fraction for the determination (ISO, 2012)
	Method 6020B (SW-846) - Inductively Coupled Plasma-Mass Spectrometry (USEPA, 2014)
Presence of Salmonella spp	ISO 6579:2002 - Microbiology of food and animal feeding stuffs - horizontal method for the detection of <i>Salmonella</i> spp (ISO, 2002)
Presence of <i>E. coli</i>	ISO 1649-2:2001 - Microbiology of food and animal feeding stuffs - horizontal method for the enumeration of beta-glucuronidase-positive <i>Escherichia coli</i> - Part 2: colony-count technique at 44 °C using 5-bromo-4-chloro-3- indolyl beta-D-glucuronide (ISO, 2001)
Presence of Staphylococcus aureus	ISO 6888-1:1999 - Microbiology of food and animal feeding stuffs - horizontal method for the enumeration of coagulase-positive staphylococci (<i>Staphylococcus aureus</i> and other species) - Part 1: technique using Baird-Parker agar medium (ISO, 1999)
Viability of helminth eggs	No standard method, some possible protocols can be found in Gaspard e <i>t al.</i> (1995), Rocha et <i>al.</i> (2016) and Amoah et al. (2018)
Ecotoxicological characterization	ISO 15799:2003 - Guidance on the ecotoxicological characterization of soils and soil materials (ISO, 2003)
Emergent contaminants	No standard method. Díaz-Cruz <i>et al.</i> (2009) reviewed the most popular techniques for the analysis of pharmaceuticals, drugs, etc., in the sludge.

Table 4. Protocols for content analysis by the International Organization for Standardization

They reported germination tests and growth tests with plants, as well as avoidance and reproduction assays with earthworms and Folsomia candida (Moreira *et al.*, 2008; Fuentes *et al.*, 2004). Some guidelines for these bioassays can be also found in ISO 15799:2003, Guidance on the Ecotoxicological Characterization of Soils and Soil Materials (ISO, 2003). Farré and

Barceló (2003) also preferred combining biosensors, bioassays (plants and invertebrates), and bioluminescence inhibition with chemical-analysis protocols (i.e. solid phase extraction and chromatographic techniques) for a thorough toxicological analysis of sludge.

Regarding sampling protocols for sludge, the Directive 86/278/EEC of 12 June 1986 suggested the analysis of sludge every 6 months. If the characteristics of the original wastewater remain constant, this period can be expanded to 12 months.





SUCCESSFUL CASE STUDIES USING SEDIMENTS AS AMENDMENTS IN CROP PRODUCTION

If the intention is to increase the reliability and safety of sediment reuse, global practices can guide national experiments through experience-sharing and method transfer. To showcase the success of real-term sediment and sludge applications, this section discusses two case studies where the application of sewage sludge and sediments for agricultural land resulted in good practices.

Composted sludge in granular fertilizers in China

The case-study was recorded by Cao *et al.* (2011) in Shenyang North WWTP, in northern China. At that time of the experiment, the average amount of generated sludge was daily 200 000 m, with average 80 percent moisture. To utilize the sludge as crop fertilizer, the Shenyang North WWTP was equipped with a sludge treatment plant to produce compound fertilizers. The sludge treatment was accompanied with the monitoring of sludge generated by 44 cities to avoid excessive heavy metal content.



Figure 18. Production process of sludge-based compound fertilizer

Source: reproduced from Cao et al., 2011.

The sludge treatment process involved the observation of storage times and 70 °C temperatures, thus eliminating the pathogenic organisms and drying the sludge to decrease its moisture to 27 percent. The produced compost was applicable directly for disposal on land or for further processing as granular fertilizer. The granular fertilizer was enriched with some nitrogen, potassium or phosphate fertilizers mixed in the second mixing reactor. The final composition was adjusted to the Standards of Inorganic-Organic Compounded Fertilizers (GB18877-2002) requirements that define the proportion of nitrogen, potassium and phosphorus in the fertilizer. Finally, the mixed compost was pelletized as granules to facilitate the transport and marketing.

The case study from China represents an integrated approach with multiple application methods. Such approach could be transferred to north Lebanon as well at a smaller scale, depending on the acceptance of the community and the absorption capacity of local fertilizer industry.

Application of lake-dredged sediments to pasture lands in Florida, USA

Sigua (2009) conducted a field experiment in Sumter County, Florida (United States of America) to investigate the re-use options of lake-dredged sediments (Sigua, 2009). The experiment consisted in removing about 28 cm of natural soil and filling it back with different proportions of dredged materials, sharing from 0 to 100 percent dredged material. Each plot was then ploughed to improve the uniformity.

The experimental plots were monitored over four years after the application of sediments and cropped with bahiagrass forage. Above the rate of 50 percent of lake-dredged sediments, the soil compaction was lower. Furthermore, the application of sediments increased soil pH, total inorganic nitrogen, calcium and magnesium. In turn, total phosphorus decreased with the application of sediment. For instance, the total phosphorus of the natural soil was 6.9 mg/kg against 0.32 mg/kg when 50 percent of soil was made up from dredged sediment. The treatment proved environmentally safe, also, the heavy metals of the soil were reduced by the application of sediments. Compared to the control plot, the yields increase of sediment-amended treatment plots were 512 percent, 82 percent and 173 percent higher for the first, second and third cut respectively. Furthermore, the forage had higher protein levels.

It must be highlighted that the successful interaction between soil and sediments amendment depends on the characteristics of both. Therefore, the assessment of sediment use must be conducted together with soil analysis. In the case of Florida, the low soil pH was key for the good results obtained.



SECTION 7

CONCLUSIONS

The potential, positive impacts of sludge and sediment use as fertilizer or soil amendment appear to be consistent (Hospido *et al.*, 2005). However, in view of the complexity of its potential effects on the soil chemistry, the salinity, the human health and the environment, more long-term experiments are required (Černe *et al.*, 2019; Hossain *et al.*, 2017; Kumar *et al.*, 2017; Romanos, 2020). Heavy metals in soils could even be immobilized to prevent plant uptake (Smith, 2009; Usman *et al.*, 2006). The intermittent application of sludge has been proposed as a feasible alternative (Roig *et al.*, 2012; Singh and Agrawal, 2008).

Apart from the sludge treatment optimization, some of the research gaps are the crop-specific response to heavy metals, emerging contaminants in the soil, sludge application rates and frequencies, and leaching risks in the long term (Fijalkowski *et al.*, 2017; Seleiman *et al.*, 2020; Breda *et al.*, 2020; Kidd *et al.*, 2007). The analysis and monitoring of sludge treated soils, together with sound standards and regulations are critical to exploit the potential sediments use in agriculture. Kumar *et al.* (2017) gave distinct recommendations for developed and developing countries regarding the use of sludge in agriculture. Recommendations for developed countries suggest the abandonment of landfilling towards a controlled use of sludge in agriculture, while developing countries are recommended to promote the use of thermal processes such as pyrolysis to produce useful by-products.

General key messages

- Dredged sediment can be a useful resource in agriculture (either solely or composted with sludge or manure), construction, landscape restoration or as renewable energy.
- Dredged sediment could be used as a component for chemical fertilizers manufacture.
- The classification and separation of the different components within El-Bared sediments (MSW, fine sediments, others) is a preliminary step and a prerequisite for its safe use.
- National regulations for the use of sediments in Lebanese agriculture are desirable so that this resource may be used without compromising the human health and the environment.
- Previous characterization of the sediment (nutrients, pollutants, pathogens, etc.) and its source is required before planning its potential uses.

- Soil analysis (physical, chemical and biological properties) and soil monitoring must be conducted before applications so as to predict the interaction with the sediment.
- The classification of crops for sediment use prevents contaminants from going into the food chain. In the case of Lebanon, use in tree crops may be recommended, such as olive trees.
- Ambitious monitoring plans are needed if sediments are applied over the long term, including monitoring the accumulation of heavy metals in the soil as well as the possible changes in soil properties.
- In view of the plethora of potentially hazardous components, a holistic bioassay as the avoidance and reproduction tests with earthworms can be an interesting option.

References

Ahmad, T., Ahmad, K. & Alam, M. 2016. Sustainable management of water treatment sludge through 3'R' concept. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, 124, 1–13. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2016.02.073</u>

Ahmad, T., Ahmad, K. & Alam, M. 2017. Sludge quantification at water treatment plant and its management scenario. *Environmental Monitoring and Assessment*, 189(9), 453. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10661-017-6166-1</u>

Alqam, M., Jamrah, A. & Daghlas, H. 2011. Utilization of cement incorporated with water treatment sludge. *Jordan Journal of Civil Engineering*, 5(2), 268–277.

Amoah, I. D., Adegoke, A. A & Stenström, T. A. 2018. Soil-transmitted helminth infections associated with wastewater and sludge reuse: a review of current evidence. *Tropical Medicine* & International Health, 23(7), 692–703. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/tmi.13076</u>

Aziz, S. M. A., Wahi, R., Ngaini, Z. & Hamdan, S. 2013. Bio-oils from microwave pyrolysis of agricultural wastes. *Fuel Processing Technology*, 106, 744–750. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fuproc.2012.10.011</u>

Barber, W. P. F. 2009. Influence of anaerobic digestion on the carbon footprint of various sewage sludge treatment options. *Water and Environment Journal*, 23(3), 170–179. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1747-6593.2008.00133.x</u>

Breda, C. C., Soares, M. B., Tavanti, R. F. R., Viana, D. G., Freddi, O. da S., Piedade, A. R., Mahl, D., Traballi, R. C. & Guerrini, I. A. 2020. Successive sewage sludge fertilization: Recycling for sustainable agriculture. *Waste Management*, 109, 38–50. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.</u> wasman.2020.04.045 Bright, D. A. & Healey, N. 2003. Contaminant risks from biosolids land application: contemporary organic contaminant levels in digested sewage sludge from five treatment plants in Greater Vancouver, British Columbia. *Environmental Pollution*, 126(1), 39–49. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0269-7491(03)00148-9</u>

Burton, G. A. 2002. Sediment quality criteria in use around the world. *Limnology*, 3, 65–76. https://doi.org/10.1007/s102010200008

Cao, X. S., Meng, X. J. & Meng, X. Z. 2011. Recycling to Soils: a Sustainable Way of Sludge Disposal and its Practice in China. *Advanced Materials Research*, 183–185, 1417–1422. <u>https://doi.org/10.4028/www.scientific.net/AMR.183-185.1417</u>

Černe, M., Palčić, I., Pasković, I., Major, N., Romić, M., Filipović, V., Igrc, M. D., Perčin, A., Goreta Ban, S., Zorko, B., Vodenik, B., Glavič Cindro, D., Milačič, R., Heath, D. J. & Ban, D. 2019. The effect of stabilization on the utilization of municipal sewage sludge as a soil amendment. *Waste Management*, 94, 27–38. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.wasman.2019.05.032</u>

Chen, H., Yan, S. H., Ye, Z. I, Meng, H. J. & Zhu, Y. G. 2012. Utilization of urban sewage sludge : Chinese perspectives. *Environ Sci Pollut Res*, 19, 1454–1463. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11356-012-0760-0</u>

Cieślik, B. M., Namieśnik, J. & Konieczka, P. 2015. Review of sewage sludge management: standards, regulations and analytical methods. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, 90(90), 1–15. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2014.11.031</u>

Collivignarelli, M., Abbà, A., Frattarola, A., Carnevale Miino, M., Padovani, S., Katsoyiannis, I. & Torretta, V. 2019. Legislation for the Reuse of Biosolids on Agricultural Land in Europe: Overview. *Sustainability*, 11(21), 1–22. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/su11216015</u>

Collivignarelli, M., Abbà, A., Padovani, S., Frascarolo, M., Sciunnach, D., Turconi, M. & Orlando, M. 2015. Recovery Of Sewage Sludge On Agricultural Land In Lombardy: Current Issues And Regulatory Scenarios. *Environmental Engineering & Management Journal* (EEMJ), 14(7).

Darmody, R. G. & Ruiz-Diaz, D. 2017. Dredged Sediment: Application as an Agricultural Amendment on Sandy Soils. Illinois Sustainable Technology Center, Prarie Research Institute, TR-066(August), 103.

Debiase, G., Montemurro, F., Fiore, A., Rotolo, C., Farrag, K., Miccolis, A. & Brunetti, G. 2016. Organic amendment and minimum tillage in winter wheat grown in Mediterranean conditions: Effects on yield performance, soil fertility and environmental impact. *European Journal of Agronomy*, 75, 149–157. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eja.2015.12.009</u>

Dentel, S. K., Strogen, B. & Chiu, P. 2004. Direct generation of electricity from sludges and other liquid wastes. *Water Science and Technology*, 50(9), 161–168. <u>https://doi.org/10.2166/wst.2004.0561</u>

Díaz-Cruz, M. S., García-Galán, M. J., Guerra, P., Jelic, A., Postigo, C., Eljarrat, E., Farré, M., López de Alda, M. J., Petrovic, M., Barceló, D., Petrovic, M. & Barceló, D. 2009. Analysis of selected emerging contaminants in sewage sludge. *Trends in Analytical Chemistry*, 28(11), 1263–1275. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/i.trac.2009.09.003</u>

Du, W., Jiang, J. & Gong, C. 2012. Primary Research on Agricultural Effect of Sludge–Impact of Sludge Application on Crop Seeds Germination and Seedling Growth. *Procedia Environmental Sciences*, 16, 340–345. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.proenv.2012.10.048</u>

Epstein, E., Taylor, J. M., Chancy, R. L. & Chaney, R. L. 1976. Effects of Sewage Sludge and Sludge Compost Applied to Soil on some Soil Physical and Chemical Properties. *Journal of Environmental Quality*, 5(4), 422–426. <u>https://doi.org/10.2134/jeq1976.00472425000500040021x</u>

European Economic Community (EEC). 1986. Council Directive of 12 June 1986 on the Protection of the Environment, and in Particular of the Soil, when Sewage Sludge is Used in Agriculture (86/278/EEC). Council of the European Communities, Official Journal of the European Communities No. L 181/6-1. Online at https://eur-lex.europa.eu/eli/dir/1986/278/oj

European Commission (EC). 2000. Working Document on Sludge. 3rd Draft. Brussels, 27 April 2000, ENV.E.3/LM.

EC. 2002. Disposal and recycling routes for sewage sludge. Synthesis report. European Commission, DG Environment. Online at <u>https://ec.europa.</u> <u>eu/environment/archives/waste/sludge/pdf/synthesisreport020222.pdf</u>

EC. 2008. Directive 2008/98/EC of The European Parliament And of The Council on Waste and Repealing Certain Directives. Official Journal of the European Union, L312, pp. 3–30. Online at https://ec.europa.eu/environment/topics/waste-and-recycling/waste-framework-directive_en

FAO. 1992. Wastewater treatment and use in agriculture. FAO Irrigation and Drainage paper No. 47. Rome, FAO.

FAO. 1996. *Control of water pollution form agriculture*. FAO Irrigation and Drainage paper No. 55. Rome, FAO.

FAO. 2010. Wastewater reuse and sludge valorisation and reuse. Proposition for Lebanese guidelines on sewage sludge use in agriculture. Rome, FAO.

FAO. 2011. Effluent specifications for wastewater reuse in irrigation based on proposed Lebanese guideline. Rome, FAO.

FAO. 2012. Environmental Impact Assessment Decree No. 8633 of 2012. Online at https://www.ecolex.org/details/legislation/environmental-impact-assessment-decree-no-8633-of-2012-lex-faoc155285/

Farré, M. & Barceló, D. 2003. Toxicity testing of wastewater and sewage sludge by biosensors, bioassays and chemical analysis. *Trends in Analytical Chemistry*, 22(5), 299–310. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0165-9936(03)00504-1</u>

Fijalkowski, K., Rorat, A., Grobelak, A. & Kacprzak, M. J. 2017. The presence of contaminations in sewage sludge - The current situation. *Journal of Environmental Management*, 203(Pt 3), 1126–1136. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jenvman.2017.05.068</u>

Frišták, V., Pipíška, M. & Soja, G. 2018. Pyrolysis treatment of sewage sludge: A promising way to produce phosphorus fertilizer. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, 172, 1772–1778. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/i.jclepro.2017.12.015</u>

Fuentes, A., Lloréns, M., Sáez, J., Aguilar, M. I., Ortuño, J. F. & Meseguer, V. F. 2004. Phytotoxicity and heavy metals speciation of stabilised sewage sludges. *Journal of Hazardous Materials*, 108(3), 161–169. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhazmat.2004.02.014</u>

Fuerhacker, M. & Haile, T. M. 2010. Treatment and reuse of sludge. In: D. Barceló & M. Petrovic, eds. *Waste Water Treatment and Reuse in the Mediterranean Region*, pp. 63–92. Berlin, Germany, Springer. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-642-18281-5</u>

Fytili, D. & Zabaniotou, A. 2008. Utilization of sewage sludge in EU application of old and new methods—A review. *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews*, 12(1), 116–140. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rser.2006.05.014</u>

Gaspard, P. G., Wiart, J. & Schwartzbrod, J. 1995. Urban sludge reuse in agriculture: Waste treatment and parasitological risk. *Bioresource Technology*, 52(1), 37–40. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/0960-8524(94)00149-U</u>

Hamzawi, N., Kennedy, K. J. & McLean, D. D. 1998. Anaerobic digestion of co-mingled municipal solid waste and sewage sludge. *Water Science and Technology*, 38(2), 127–132.

Healey, M. G. & Fenton, O. 2017. Fertiliser - Application of wastewater treatment plant sludge to land. *Teagasc*, 12(2), 18–19.

Hospido, A., Moreira, T., Martín, M., Rigola, M. & Feijoo, G. 2005. Environmental Evaluation of Different Treatment Processes for Sludge from Urban Wastewater Treatments: Anaerobic Digestion versus Thermal Processes. *The International Journal of Life Cycle Assessment*, 10(5), 336–345. <u>https://doi.org/10.1065/lca2005.05.210</u>

Hossain, M. Z., Fragstein, P. Von, Niemsdorff, P. Von & Heß, J. 2017. Effect of Different Organic Wastes on Soil Propertie s and Plant Growth and Yield: A Review. *Scientia Agriculturae Bohemica*, 48(4), 224–237. <u>https://doi.org/10.1515/sab-2017-0030</u>

Ingallinella, A. M., Sanguinetti, G., Koottatep, T., Montangero, A. & Strauss, M. 2002. The challenge of faecal sludge management in urban areas-strategies, regulations and treatment options. *Water Science and Technology*, 46(10), 285–294. <u>https://doi.org/10.2166/wst.2002.0355</u>

Inglezakis, V. J., Zorpas, A. A., Karagiannidis, A., Samaras, P., Voukkali, I. & Sklari, S. 2011. European Union legislation on sewage sludge management. Conference presentation at the Third International Conference on Environmental Management, Engineering, Planning and Economics, 19-24 June 2011. Skiathios island, Greece.

International Organization for Standardization (ISO). 1985. ISO 7888:1985. Water quality — Determination of electrical conductivity. Online at https://www.iso.org/standard/14838.html

ISO. 1994. ISO 11263:1994. Soil quality. Determination of phosphorus - Spectometric determination of phosphorus soluble in sodium hydrogen carbonate solution. Online at <u>https://www.iso.org/standard/19241.html</u>

ISO. 1995. ISO 11261:1995. Soil quality. Determination of total nitrogen - Modified Kjeldahl method. Online at <u>https://www.iso.org/standard/19239.html</u>

ISO. 1998. ISO 14235: 1998. Soil quality - Determination of organic carbon by sulfochromic oxidation. Online at https://www.iso.org/standard/23140.html

ISO. 2001. ISO 16649-2:2001. Microbiology of food and animal feeding stuffs — Horizontal method for the enumeration of beta-glucuronidase-positive Escherichia coli — Part 2: Colony-count technique at 44 degrees C using 5-bromo-4-chloro-3-indolyl beta-D-glucuronide. Online at https://www.iso.org/standard/29824.html

ISO. 2002. ISO 6579:2002. Microbiology of food and animal feeding stuffs — Horizontal method for the detection of Salmonella spp. Online at <u>https://www.iso.org/standard/29315.html</u>

ISO. 2003. ISO 15799:2003. Soil quality – Guidance on the Ecotoxicological Characterization of Soils and Soil Materials. Online at https://www.iso.org/standard/29085.html

ISO. 2008. ISO 10523:2008. Water quality — Determination of pH. Online at <u>https://www.iso.</u> org/standard/51994.html

ISO. 2012. ISO 12914:2012. Soil quality-Microwave-assisted extraction of the aqua regia soluble fraction for the determination of elements. Online at https://www.iso.org/standard/52171.html

International Union for Conservation of Nature (IUCN) and Natural Resources & Ministry of Environment (MoE). 2021. Impact of climate change on the cost of Lebanon. An awarness handbook. Gland, Switzerland and Beirut, Lebanon.

Ivanová, L., Mackuľak, T., Grabic, R., Golovko, O., Koba, O., Staňová, A. V., Szabová, P., Grenčíková, A. & Bodík, I. 2018. Pharmaceuticals and illicit drugs–a new threat to the application of sewage sludge in agriculture. *Science of the Total Environment*, 634, 606–615. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2018.04.001</u>

Jiang, J., Zhao, Q., Zhang, J., Zhang, G. & Lee, D. J. 2009. Electricity generation from bio-treatment of sewage sludge with microbial fuel cell. *Bioresource Technology*, 100(23), 5808–5812. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2009.06.076</u>

Karam, F., Halim-Mouneimne, A., El-Ali, F., Mordovanaki, G. & Rouphael, Y. 2013. Wastewater management and reuse in Lebanon. *Journal of Applied Sciences Research*, 9 (4)(January), 239–260. <u>https://doi.org/10.4337/9781782549666.00021</u>

Kelessidis, A. & Stasinakis, A. S. 2012. Comparative study of the methods used for treatment and final disposal of sewage sludge in European countries. *Waste Management*, 32(6), 1186–1195. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.wasman.2012.01.012</u>

Kidd, P. S., Domínguez-Rodríguez, M. J., Díez, J. & Monterroso, C. 2007. Bioavailability and plant accumulation of heavy metals and phosphorus in agricultural soils amended by long-term application of sewage sludge. *Chemosphere*, 66(8), 1458–1467. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2006.09.007</u>

Kokalj, F., Arbiter, B. & Samec, N. 2017. Sewage sludge gasification as an alternative energy storage model. *Energy Conversion and Management*, 149, 738–747. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.enconman.2017.02.076</u>

Kuhn, R., Benndorf, D., Rapp, E., Reichl, U., Palese, L. L. & Pollice, A. 2011. Metaproteome analysis of sewage sludge from membrane bioreactors. *PROTEOMICS*, 11(13), 2738–2744. https://doi.org/10.1002/pmic.201000590

Kumar, V., Chopra, A. K. & Kumar, A. 2017. A review on sewage sludge (Biosolids) a resource for sustainable agriculture. *Archives of Agriculture and Environmental Science*, 2(4), 340–347. https://doi.org/10.26832/24566632.2017.02047

Leschber, R. 2002. International Report: Sludge management and related legislation. *Water Science and Technology*, 46(4–5), 367–371. <u>https://doi.org/10.2166/wst.2002.0627</u>

Lord, R. 2017. Strategies for reusing canal sediments in the Scottish Circular Economy. Conference presentation at the 10th International SedNet Conference "Sediments on the Move", 14-17 June 2017. Genoa, Italy.

Lu, Y., Wu, X. & Guo, J. 2009. Characteristics of municipal solid waste and sewage sludge co-composting. *Waste Management*, 29(3), 1152–1157. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.wasman.2008.06.030</u>

Mansour, M. A. I., Moustafa, A. F. & Shokr, A. E. M. 2013. Effect of soil amendment with sewage sludge on wheat growth and productivity. *Sinai Journal of Applied Sciences*, 2(1), 1–14. <u>https://doi.org/10.21608/sinjas.2013.78387</u>

Maryland Department of Environment. 2017. Innovative Reuse and Beneficial Use of Dredged Material. Guidance Document (Issue August). Online at <u>https://mde.maryland.gov/programs/Marylander/Documents/Dredging/FINAL_IBR_GUIDANCE_8.30.2017_MDE.pdf</u>

Mazen, A., Faheed, F. A. & Ahmed, A. F. 2010. Study of potential impacts of using sewage sludge in the amendment of desert reclaimed soil on wheat and jews mallow plants. *Brazilian Archives of Biology and Technology*, 53, 917–930. <u>https://doi.org/10.1590/S1516-89132010000400022</u>

Mininni, G., Blanch, A. R., Lucena, F. & Berselli, S. 2015. EU policy on sewage sludge utilization and perspectives on new approaches of sludge management. *Environmental Science and Pollution Research*, 22(10), 7361–7374. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11356-014-3132-0</u>

Mininni, G., Braguglia, C. M., Ramadori, R. & Tomei, M. C. 2004. An innovative sludge management system based on separation of primary and secondary sludge treatment. *Water Science and Technology*, 50(9), 145–153. <u>https://doi.org/10.2166/wst.2004.0557</u>

Ministry of Environment (MoE), United Nations Development Programme (UNDP). 2011. Climate change vulnerability and adaptation. Coastal Zones. <u>Online at https://climatechange.moe.gov.lb/viewfile.aspx?id=44</u>

Moreira, R., Sousa, J. P. & Canhoto, C. 2008. Biological testing of a digested sewage sludge and derived composts. *Bioresource Technology*, 99(17), 8382–8389. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2008.02.046</u>

Müller, J. F., Duquesne, S., Jack, N. G., Shaw, G. R., Krrishnamohan, K., Manonmanii, K., Hodge, M. & Eaglesham, G. K. 2000. Pesticides in sediments from Queensland irrigation channels and drains. *Marine Pollution Bulletin*, 41(7–12), 294–301. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0025-326X(00)00095-3</u>

Oliveira, B. R. F., van Laarhoven, K., Smit, M. P. J., Rijnaarts, H. H. M. & Grotenhuis, T. 2017. Impact of compost and manure on the ripening of dredged sediments. *Journal of Soils and Sediments*, 17(2), 567–577. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11368-016-1571-6</u>

Olsen, S. R. 1954. Estimation of available phosphorus in soils by extraction with sodium bicarbonate (Issue 939). US Department of Agriculture.

Özyazici, M. A. 2013. Effects of sewage sludge on the yield of plants in the rotation system of wheat-white head cabbage-tomato. *Eurasian Journal of Soil Science*, 2(1), 35–44.

Pescod, M. D. 1992. Wastewater treatment and use in agriculture, Food and Agricultural Organization (FAO). Irrigation and Drainage Paper, 47, 978–989.

Renella, G. 2021. Recycling and reuse of sediments in agriculture: Where is the problem? *Sustainability*, 13(4), 1–12. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/su13041648</u>

Rocha, M. C. V. da, Barés, M. E. & Braga, M. C. B. 2016. Quantification of viable helminth eggs in samples of sewage sludge. *Water Research*, 103, 245–255. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2016.07.039</u>

Roig, N., Sierra, J., Martí, E., Nadal, M., Schuhmacher, M. & Domingo, J. L. 2012. Long-term amendment of Spanish soils with sewage sludge: Effects on soil functioning. *Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment*, 158, 41–48. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.agee.2012.05.016</u>

Romanos, D. 2020. Evaluation of Sewage Sludge in Lebanon: Effect of its Use in Agriculture on Soil and Crops. *Holy Spirit University of Kalisk (Usek)*. <u>https://digitalgate.usek.edu</u>. <u>lb/xmlui/handle/1050/6807</u>

Romanos, D. M., Nemer, N., Khairallah, Y. & Abi Saab, M. T. 2021. Application of sewage sludge for cereal production in a Mediterranean environment (Lebanon). *International Journal of Recycling Organic Waste in Agriculture*, 10(3), 233–244. <u>https://doi.org/10.30486/ijrowa.2021.1903739.1098</u>

Romanos, D., Nemer, N., Khairallah, Y. & Abi Saab, M. T. 2019. Assessing the quality of sewage sludge as an agricultural soil amendment in Mediterranean habitats. *International Journal of Recycling of Organic Waste in Agriculture*, 8(s1), 377–383. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s40093-019-00310-x</u>

Romboli, A., Stella, C., Kerbage, M., Takchi, Y., Eikelenboom, M., Kostanian, A. & Saleh, L. 2018. The Lebanon municipal solid waste crisis. Arthur D Little. <u>https://www.adlittle.com/en/insights/viewpoints/lebanon-municipal-solid-waste-crisis</u>

Rulkens, W. 2008. Sewage Sludge as a Biomass Resource for the Production of Energy: Overview and Assessment of the Various Options. *Energy & Fuels*, 22(1), 9–15. <u>https://doi.org/10.1021/ef700267m</u>

Salloum, C. 2020. Lebanon Risks Another Trash Crisis. Hrw.Org. <u>https://www.hrw.org/news/2020/09/23/lebanon-risks-another-trash-crisis#</u>

Samaras, V., Tsadilas, C. D. & Stamatiadis, S. 2008. Effects of repeated application of municipal sewage sludge on soil fertility, cotton yield, and nitrate leaching. *Agronomy Journal*, 100(3), 477–483. <u>https://doi.org/10.2134/agronj2007.0162</u>

Samiyev, L., Allayorov, D., Atakulov, D. & Babajanov, F. 2020. The influence of sedimentation reservoir on hydraulic parameters of irrigation channels. IOP Conference Series: *Materials Science and Engineering*, 883(1). https://doi.org/10.1088/1757-899X/883/1/012031

Seleiman, M. F., Santanen, A. & Mäkelä, P. S. A. 2020. Recycling sludge on cropland as fertilizer – Advantages and risks. Resources, Conservation and Recycling, 155, 104647. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/i.resconrec.2019.104647</u>

Sigua, G. C. 2009. Recycling biosolids and lake-dredged materials to pasture-based animal agriculture: Alternative nutrient sources for forage productivity and sustainability: A review. *Sustainable Agriculture*, 495–517. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-90-481-2666-8_31</u>

Sigua, G. C., Holtkamp, M. L. & Coleman, S. W. 2004. Assessing the efficacy of dredged materials from lake panasoffkee, florida: Implication to environment and agriculture part 1: Soil and environmental quality aspect. *Environmental Science and Pollution Research*, 11(5), 321–326. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/BF02979646</u>

Singh, R. P. & Agrawal, M. 2008. Potential benefits and risks of land application of sewage sludge. *Waste Management*, 28(2), 347–358. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.wasman.2006.12.010</u>

Singh, R. P., Singh, P., Ibrahim, M. H. & Hashim, R. 2011. Land Application of Sewage Sludge : Physicochemical and Microbial Response. *Reviews of Environmental Contamination and Toxicology*, 214. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4614-0668-6</u>

Smith, S. R. 2009. A critical review of the bioavailability and impacts of heavy metals in municipal solid waste composts compared to sewage sludge. *Environment International*, 35(1), 142–156. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2008.06.009</u>

Snaidr, J., Amann, R., Huber, I., Ludwig, W. & Schleifer, K. H. 1997. Phylogenetic analysis and in situ identification of bacteria in activated sludge. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 63(7), 2884–2896. <u>https://doi.org/10.1128/aem.63.7.2884-2896.1997</u>

Soler-Rovira, P., Soler-Soler, J., Soler-Rovira, J., Polo, A., Publishers, K. A., Medioambientales, C., Isabel, I., Universitaria, E. & Tdcnica, I. 1996. Agricultural use of sewage sludge and its regulation. *Fertilizer Research*, 43(1), 173–177. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00747698</u>

Soria-Verdugo, A., Goos, E., Morato-Godino, A., García-Hernando, N. & Riedel, U. 2017. Pyrolysis of biofuels of the future: sewage sludge and microalgae–thermogravimetric analysis and modelling of the pyrolysis under different temperature conditions. *Energy Conversion and Management*, 138, 261–272. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.enconman.2017.01.059</u>

Southern Cooperative Series. 2000. Methods of phosphorus analysis for soils, sediments, residuals, and waters. In: Methods of phosphorus analysis for soils, sediments, residuals, and waters. North Carolina State University Raleigh, NC, USA. <u>http://www.soil.ncsu.edu/sera17/publications/sera17-2/pm_cover.htm</u>

Sözen, S., Karaca, C., Alli, B., Orhon, D., Allı, B. & Orhon, D. 2019. Sludge footprints of municipal treatment plant for the management of net useful energy generation beyond energy neutrality. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, 215, 1503–1515. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2019.01.080</u>

Spinosa, L. 2001. Evolution of sewage sludge regulations in Europe. *Water Science and Technology*, 44(10), 1–8. <u>https://doi.org/10.2166/wst.2001.0566</u>

United Nations Environment Programme (UNEP). 1977. Convention for the Protection of the Mediterranean Sea aganinst Pollution and related protocols. Online at <u>https://www.unep.org/unepmap/who-we-are/barcelona-convention-and-protocols</u>

UNEP - Mediterranean Action Plan. 2020. State of the Environment and Development in the Mediterranean. Nairobi, Kenya. Online at <u>https://planbleu.org/en/soed-2020-state-of-en</u><u>vironment-and-development-in-mediterranean/</u>

United Nations Economic and Social Commission for Western Asia (UN-ESCWA). 2017. Wastewater. An Arab Perspective. Online at <u>https://archive.unescwa.org/sites/www.unescwa.org/files/page_attachments/l1700174_web_-_waste_water_-_march_2017_0.pdf</u>

United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees (UNHCR). 2015. Akkar Governorate Profile.

United States Environmental Protection Agency (USEPA). 1987. Regulatory Application of Sediment Criteria.

USEPA. 2014. Method 6020B (SW-846): Inductively Coupled Plasma-Mass Spectrometry," Revision 2. Online at https://www.epa.gov/sites/default/files/2015-12/documents/6020b.pdf

Usman, A. R. A., Kuzyakov, Y., Lorenz, K. & Stahr, K. 2006. Remediation of a soil contaminated with heavy metals by immobilizing compounds. *Journal of Plant Nutrition and Soil Science*, 169(2), 205–212. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/jpln.200421685</u>

Usman, K., Khan, S., Ghulam, S., Khan, M. U., Khan, N., Khan, M. A. & Khalil, S. K. 2012. Sewage sludge: an important biological resource for sustainable agriculture and its environmental implications. *American Journal of Plant Sciences*, 3, 1708–1721. <u>https://doi.org/10.4236/ajps.2012.312209</u> Wang, M. J. 1997. Land application of sewage sludge in China. *Science of the Total Environment*, 197(1–3), 149–160. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0048-9697(97)05426-0</u>

Wang, X., Chen, T., Ge, Y. & Jia, Y. 2008. Studies on land application of sewage sludge and its limiting factors. *Journal of Hazardous Materials*, 160(2), 554–558. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhazmat.2008.03.046</u>

World Bank. 2011. Republic of Lebanon Country Environmental Analysis (Issue 62266).

Zaker, A., Chen, Z., Wang, X. & Zhang, Q. 2019. Microwave-assisted pyrolysis of sewage sludge: A review. *Fuel Processing Technology*, 187(August 2018), 84–104. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.</u> <u>fuproc.2018.12.011</u>

Zhang, G., Zhao, Q., Jiao, Y., Wang, K., Lee, D.-J. & Ren, N. 2012. Efficient electricity generation from sewage sludge using biocathode microbial fuel cell. *Water Research*, 46(1), 43–52. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2011.10.036

Zhang, H., Gao, Z., Ao, W., Li, J., Liu, G., Fu, J., Ran, C., Mao, X., Kang, Q. & Liu, Y. 2017. Microwave pyrolysis of textile dyeing sludge in a continuously operated auger reactor: char characterization and analysis. *Journal of Hazardous Materials*, 334, 112–120. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhazmat.2017.03.048</u>
Rapid urbanization is stretching natural resources and leading to an environmental degradation in many regions.

In the Governorate of Akkar, in the north of Lebanon, there has been a recent sharp population increase, placing a heavy strain on both fresh and marine water resources. The adverse effects of contamination are further exacerbated by the sediment deposited on the canal bottom, which also carry a large amount of pollutants.

This report provides an insight into sediment collection and use strategies that can be transferred to El-Bared irrigation system by providing an overview of global and national practices of sediment application; setting the theoretical baseline for the implementation of these practices; and paving the way for scalable pilots in the country.

This report is part of the "Rehabilitation and waste management of the El-Bared Canal Irrigation System" project, financed by the Government of Norway.





Norwegian Embassy



